IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

1996 Castle OCK 1887 By Chief Deady: Clark

100 A

Complainant,

Case No. 86,027 [TFB Case Nos. 95-30,134(5B) & 94-31,482(05B)]

v.

MICHAEL CARR NORVELL,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

James W. Keeter Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801-1085 (407) 425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 771252

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Fifth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "B" voted to find probable cause in this matter on February 9, 1995. The bar filed its complaint on July 10, 1995. This court entered an order on July 17, 1995, directing the chief judge of the Eighth Judicial Circuit to appoint a referee to hear this matter. The referee was appointed on July 24, 1995. The final hearing was held on November 29, 1995, and November 30, 1995. Thereafter, on February 8, 1996, the referee held a hearing on the discipline to be recommended.

The March 13, 1996, Report of Referee recommended the respondent be found guilty of violating Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.8(i) for acquiring a proprietary interest in a cause of an action or subject matter of litigation the lawyer is conducting for a client; 4-1.16 for failing to withdraw from the representation of a client if the continued representation will result in a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct or law; 4-3.3(a) for knowingly making a false statement of fact or law to a tribunal; 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving

dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation; and 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice. The referee recommended the respondent be found not guilty of violating rules 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary for the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-1.7(b) for representing a client where the lawyer's exercise of professional judgment may be materially limited by his responsibility to another client or to a third person or by his own interests; and 4-1.8(a) for entering into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquiring an ownership, possessory, security, or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client.

The board of governors considered the referee's recommendations at its May, 1996, meeting and voted to seek review of the referee's legal conclusions and recommendation as to discipline. The board determined that a more appropriate level of discipline would be a one year period of suspension given the referee's factual determinations and the respondent's prior disciplinary history.

The bar served its Petition for Review on May 30, 1996. This Initial Brief is in support of the bar's petition.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following facts, unless otherwise noted, are taken from the Report of Referee, appended hereto.

The respondent, Michael C. Norvell, and his wife executed a contract in July, 1991, with The Arbors of Lake Harris, Inc. ("The Arbors") for the construction of their home. The principals of The Arbors were Forrest Berg and Douglas Dillard. The architect of the Norvells' home was Jamie Senatore. At the time the respondent entered into the contract with The Arbors, he was not a member of The Florida Bar; rather, the respondent was reinstated as a member of the bar on May 26, 1992.

In the latter part of 1991, a dispute arose between the respondent and Messrs. Berg and Dillard concerning timely and proper payments to subcontractors that The Arbors, the general contractor, had hired to work on the respondent's home. On December 3, 1991, the respondent paid \$2,500.00 to attorney Robert Q. Williams to represent him in this contract dispute. Messrs. Berg and Dillard retained attorney Edward Clement. The

respondent sought to cancel the construction contract with The Arbors and to hire Mr. Senatore as the general contractor. On or about January 6, 1992, the respondent settled his dispute with The Arbors and was able to rescind the construction contract. He thereupon hired Mr. Senatore to complete construction. At some point in early 1992, a dispute arose between the respondent and Mr. Senatore concerning the timely completion of the respondent's home.

In April, 1992, Mr. Senatore filed suit against Messrs. Berg and Dillard and The Arbors concerning their refusal to sell shares in The Arbors back to Mr. Senatore under a share repurchase agreement previously executed by the lawsuit parties (hereinafter referred to as the "Senatore lawsuit"). Attorney Robert Williams represented Mr. Senatore in the Senatore lawsuit. The defendants in that suit retained attorney Royce Pipkins to represent them. On May 12, 1992, the respondent's wife, Tina, paid Mr. Williams \$1,000.00 to be applied to Mr. Senatore's legal fees. Tina Norvell testified that Mr. Senatore requested this payment to be made in lieu of payment to Mr. Senatore for work he had performed on the respondent's home. Mrs. Norvell further

testified that there were many other occasions where, at Mr. Senatore's request, she had written checks directly to others who had worked on her home rather than paying Mr. Senatore directly.

Mr. Berg testified that, at some point in the summer of 1992, he approached the respondent with his "hat in his hand" and asked the respondent if he would help The Arbors increase lot sales. By this time the respondent resided in his new home at The Arbors and could directly observe conditions in the subdivision. The respondent agreed to assist Mr. Berg by talking with Mr. Senatore about the Senatore lawsuit. Subsequently, the respondent acted as an informal mediator and discussed with Mr. Senatore the adverse effects of the Senatore lawsuit on subdivision lot sales.

In July, 1992, a principal payment of \$100,000.00 was due to Citizens National Bank (CNB), the primary lender for The Arbors. The Arbors could not make this payment. Messrs. Berg and Dillard were also individually liable for the CNB debt, but could not make the payment and thereby prevent default. Mr. Dillard testified that he and Mr. Berg anticipated satisfying the

\$100,000.00 payment from lot sales proceeds, but pending lot closings did not occur. Mr. Berg contacted one of the CNB directors, Thomas Grizzard (who also was a licensed real estate broker in Leesburg, Florida) to formulate a marketing plan that would stimulate more lot sales and thus generate income to make the CNB debt payments. On September 1, 1992, Mr. Grizzard signed a one year exclusive listing agreement with The Arbors. Mr. Grizzard's subdivision marketing plan included a reduction of lot prices to attract more buyers. During the term of Mr. Grizzard's exclusive listing agreement, the respondent procured contracts for lot sales in The Arbors.

In September, 1992, CNB filed a foreclosure suit against The Arbors and sought money damages from Messrs. Berg and Dillard and their wives under their personal guaranties. On or about November 30, 1992, The Arbors' attorney, Royce Pipkins, filed a Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Middle District of Florida, before The Honorable C. Timothy Corcoran, III. The bankruptcy progressed slowly from the initial filing through June, 1993, at which time the respondent entered an appearance in the bankruptcy court on behalf of The

Arbors. On June 15, 1993, Judge Corcoran ordered the respondent to be substituted for Mr. Pipkins as The Arbors' counsel of record. However, on August 17, 1993, Judge Corcoran determined that the respondent had not filed an application for employment nor had The Arbors filed the required affidavit for employment of the respondent as counsel. Judge Corcoran was displeased with these filing oversights and ordered the respondent to file the required application and affidavit that same day, August 17, 1993.

The respondent's August 17, 1993, affidavit for employment filed with the bankruptcy court stated in paragraph 2 that the respondent had "no connection with the debtor." In paragraph 3 of the affidavit, the respondent stated that he was а "disinterested person," as such term is defined in the Bankruptcy Code. Similarly, The Arbors' application for employment (provided by Mr. Berg on behalf of The Arbors) stated that the respondent had "no connection with the [bankrupt debtor] " and that the respondent "does not hold or represent an interest that would be adverse to the interest of the [bankrupt debtor's] estate in a Chapter 11 case." However, the respondent's August

20, 1993, letter to Mr. Dillard (B-Ex. 12) revealed that the respondent discussed his prospective ownership interest in The Arbors and its assets within 3 days after he submitted his August 17, 1993, affidavit to Judge Corcoran.

The referee found that the respondent's August 20, 1993, letter to Mr. Dillard resulted from their discussion about the respondent's prospective ownership interest in The Arbors. The respondent did not reveal this prospective ownership interest in the August 17, 1993, affidavit filed with the bankruptcy court.

On September 15, 1993, the respondent appeared before Judge Corcoran on the "problem calendar." Consequently, on that date Judge Corcoran denied the respondent's application for employment. The respondent testified at the disciplinary final hearing that when he learned of Judge Corcoran's denial of his employment application, he did not further pursue appointment. The respondent also did not take affirmative steps to inform Judge Corcoran about his prospective ownership of The Arbors.

On October 1, 1993, the respondent and Messrs. Berg and Dillard executed an Assignment and Assumption Agreement whereby the respondent would acquire a 100% ownership interest in The Arbors. The effective date of the agreement was September 27, On October 4, 1993, the respondent and attorney Richard 1993. Hennings filed a joint motion for substitution of counsel whereby Mr. Hennings sought appointment as counsel in The Arbors' the joint motion, bankruptcy. In paragraph 13.c of the respondent revealed his prospective ownership interest in The Arbors to the bankruptcy court for the first time. The Assignment and Assumption Agreement provided, inter alia, that the respondent (or other counsel compensated by the respondent) would represent The Arbors in the Chapter 11 proceeding. The agreement also provided that the respondent would be given a proxy agreement whereby he would be entitled to vote all shares of stock in The Arbors.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The bar submits the referee reached an incorrect legal conclusion that the respondent was not guilty of violating rules 4-1.4(b) and 4-1.7(b) because the evidence and testimony showed the respondent failed to provide his clients with necessary information and he represented many conflicting interests. Additionally, the referee's recommendation of a 90 day suspension is erroneous and unjustified given the respondent's prior disciplinary history, the fact he made misrepresentations to the bankruptcy court, his selfish motives and the pattern of misconduct occurring over a period of years.

The respondent failed to adequately communicate with his client, Mr. Berg. He did not advise Mr. Berg that he had paid legal fees to Mr. Senatore's lawyer and that the funds were used to pay Mr. William's legal fee for representing Mr. Senatore in a lawsuit against Mr. Berg. The respondent failed to communicate to his clients, Messrs. Berg and Dillard, that the Assignment and Assumption Agreement precluded his further representation of The Arbors in the bankruptcy suit. He also failed to inform Messrs.

Berg and Dillard that The Arbors bankruptcy could be further delayed by the need for new counsel.

The respondent had many conflicting interests in representing The Arbors, Mr. Berg and Mr. Dillard in the various legal matters. As a homeowner in the subdivision, he could not protect his own investment interests and also provide independent legal advice. The respondent paid a portion of Mr. Senatore's legal bill in the Senatore lawsuit yet later represented The Arbors, Mr. Berg and Mr. Dillard in defense of the Senatore lawsuit.

The respondent made material misrepresentations to the bankruptcy court. He failed to disclose his prospective ownership interest in The Arbors at the time he sought appointment as the Arbors' bankruptcy counsel. The respondent's misrepresentations to the bankruptcy court warrant a suspension of more than 90 days. Upon consideration of the respondent's misconduct in this matter and his prior disciplinary history, he should be suspended for one year.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE REFEREE'S CONCLUSION THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULES 4-1.4(b) AND 4-1.7(b) WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

The bar does not challenge the referee's findings of fact but rather, his legal conclusions drawn from those facts. A referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and will not be revisited by this court unless it can be shown they are clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The Florida <u>Bar. v. Benchimol</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S226, S227 (Fla. May 23, 1996). However, a referee's legal conclusions and recommendations are subject to closer scrutiny because this court has the ultimate responsibility for rendering the appropriate judgment. <u>The Florida Bar re Grusmark</u>, 662 So. 2d 1235, 1236 (Fla. 1995).

The referee's legal conclusion that the respondent was not guilty of violating rules 4-1.4(b) and 4-1.7(b) was clearly erroneous given the findings of fact and the evidence. The respondent violated rule 4-1.4(b) when, during the summer of

1992, he failed to disclose to Mr. Berg that he had paid \$1,000.00 in legal fees to Jamie Senatore's lawyer, Robert Williams. This payment was for legal services rendered by Mr. Williams in Mr. Senatore's lawsuit against Mr. Berg (RR-A p. 2; T. V. I p. 34; T. V. III p.p. 455-456). The respondent's failure to disclose this information occurred in the summer of 1992 when Mr. Berg sought the respondent's assistance to negotiate a settlement of the Senatore lawsuit (RR-A p. 2; T. V. III p.p. 455-456).

Although the respondent paid Mr. Williams at Mr. Senatore's direction because the respondent owed this money to Mr. Senatore (RR-A p. 2, T. V. III p.p. 338-339), the respondent's fee payment and his later role as an informal mediator between Messrs. Berg and Senatore created the appearance of an improper conflict of interest. The fee payment should have been disclosed to Mr. Berg to allow his informed decision about whether the respondent should act as an informal mediator.

When he requested the respondent's help, Mr. Berg did not know whether the respondent was obligated to further fund the

Senatore lawsuit. According to Mr. Berg, he was not satisfied with his current attorney and he wanted to hire the respondent (T. V. I p.p. 181-182). The respondent entered a notice of appearance as Mr. Berg's attorney in the Senatore lawsuit in October, 1993 (T. V. II p. 211; B-Ex. 21).

The respondent also failed to disclose to Mr. Berg and Mr. Dillard the conflict of interest between his duties under the Assignment and Assumption Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the "agreement") and his bankruptcy representation of The Arbors. On August 17, 1993, the respondent filed an affidavit and sought a bankruptcy court order approving his employment as the attorney for The Arbors (B-Ex. 17). At this time he and Mr. Berg also first discussed the respondent's interest in purchasing Mr. Berg's and Mr. Dillard's ownership of The Arbors (T. V. III p.p. 385, 469). Therefore, the agreement (B-Ex. 13) was effectively under negotiation while the respondent sought to represent The Arbors (B-Ex. 11; B-Ex. 12; R-Ex. 4; T. V. III p. 382).

The respondent should have advised Mr. Berg and Mr. Dillard that the agreement required his disqualification from The Arbors'

bankruptcy. The respondent's deficient bankruptcy counsel application delayed The Arbors' bankruptcy representation and could have impeded lot sales and the timely satisfaction of the CNB debt. If Mr. Berg and Mr. Dillard had been timely advised of the respondent's conflict of interest arising from the agreement and his representation of The Arbors, they could have earlier selected Mr. Hennings as bankruptcy counsel.

In 1994, the respondent also handled lot closings while The Arbors was in bankruptcy. He was paid for writing the title insurance policies (T. V. III p. 400). The respondent and the Dillards and the Bergs entered into the agreement in October, 1993 (RR-A p. 5; T. V. III p. 381). Although the respondent discussed with Mr. Hennings (who then represented The Arbors) whether it was proper to handle the lot closings, the respondent did not discuss his receipt of title insurance policy fees with either Mr. Berg or Mr. Dillard, although his fees for the title insurance were paid by The Arbors on at least one lot closing (T. V. III p. 468).

The respondent violated the conflict of interest

prohibitions of rule 4-1.7(b). There was substantial evidence that the respondent's pecuniary interests (i.e. his ownership of the only home in the subdivision) created an irreconcilable conflict of interest with The Arbors and its principals. For example, the respondent wanted larger homes to protect his house investment, but The Arbors' marketing plan called for smaller homes to increase sales and thereby generate revenue to reduce the CNB debt. While the respondent may have intended no harm to the Bergs, Dillards, Mr. Senatore or The Arbors, he wanted to ensure that his home investment was protected. This selfinterest caused his initial involvement with The Arbors.

The respondent assumed conflicting roles in this matter. He was a homeowner in the development (RR-A p. 1). He had a civil dispute with The Arbors and its principals (RR-A p. 2). The Arbors and its principals later became the respondent's clients as defendants in the Senatore lawsuit (T. V. III p. 413). The respondent later sued Mr. Senatore in a dispute concerning the construction of the respondent's home (RR-A p. 2). In September, 1993, the respondent began giving legal advice to The Arbors and the principals in the CNB foreclosure suit (T. V. III p. 415; T.

V. IV p. 500). In June, 1993, he sought representation of The Arbors in the bankruptcy suit (RR-A p.p. 3-4; T. V. III p.p. 468-469). In August, 1993, he negotiated with the principals to purchase their interests in The Arbors while he was still involved as The Arbors' attorney (RR-A p. 4; T. V. III p.p. 385, 469). Although the issues involved in these various actions were different, the respondent possessed financial and other information about the corporation, the principals and the architect (T. V. III p.p. 460-461).

The respondent never disclosed to either Mr. Berg or Mr. Dillard the payment he had made to Mr. Williams on behalf of Mr. Senatore (T. V. III p.p. 455-456). According to the respondent, he did not disclose this information to Mr. Berg at the time Mr. Berg first approached him in the summer of 1992 about acting as an informal mediator because it "wasn't any of his business" (T. V. III p. 455). The respondent undertook representation of clients in the Senatore lawsuit where he previously had paid the opposing counsel's fee. He also had extensive dealings with both lawsuit parties before and after the suit was filed.

The respondent represented Mr. Berg, Mr. Dillard and The Arbors in at least three legal actions: the Senatore lawsuit; the CNB foreclosure; and the bankruptcy. The respondent's selfinterest conflicted with these representations. His selfinterest as a property owner in the subdivision and his ownership rights in The Arbors under the agreement (which allowed him to control the subdivision's development) conflicted with his role as attorney for The Arbors. The bar submits these interests constituted an unethical conflict.

The respondent represented the Bergs and Dillards, who were personally liable for The Arbors' CNB debt (RR-A p. 3; T. V. I p.p. 81-83, 168), while he also represented The Arbors. The respondent wanted larger, more expensive homes to sustain the value of his home in The Arbors. Yet The Arbors needed to reduce home sizes and lot prices to pay the \$100,000.00 mortgage principal reduction payment due in July, 1992, and to avoid CNB's foreclosure and other legal action against the Bergs and Dillards (T. I p.p. 95, 170). Therefore, after the CNB loan defaulted in July, 1992, the Bergs and Dillards were doubly motivated to sell lots. However their lawyer, the respondent, possessed a self-

interest in the sale of larger homes, a sales process in opposition to their need for reduced lot prices and home sizes.

The respondent had other conflicts of interest arising from his status as a homeowner and as attorney for The Arbors and its principals. He attempted to find lot buyers as early as November 30, 1992 (T. V. III p. 464). He closed some of these sales, for which he was paid (T. V. III p.p. 401, 466-468). In September, 1992, the respondent procured the buyers (the Williams) for lot number 13, handled the closing as the buyers' attorney, and wrote the title insurance policy, for which he was paid (T. V. III p.p. 466-468; B-Ex. 22). In other words, the respondent represented both the buyers (the Williams) and the seller (The Arbors) in the same real estate transaction.

Only a few days after executing the agreement, the respondent appeared on a notice of hearing in the Senatore lawsuit as a co-counsel (B-Ex. 5). On October 21, 1993, he moved to be substituted as counsel of record (B-Ex. 21). The respondent did not want Mr. Senatore to prevail with the Senatore lawsuit and thereby acquire any ownership interest in The Arbors (T. V.

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