ry FIL **)** 10-1 XVHITE SID J 18 1996

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

CLERK, OUPREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_

Complainant,

v.

Case No. **86,027** [TFB Case Nos. 94-31,482(5B) and 95-30,134(5B)

MICHAEL CARR NORVELL,

Respondent.

MICHAEL CARR NORVELL'S ANSWER BRIEF

MICHAEL CARR NORVELL Respondent Pro Se Michael C. Norvell, P.A. 1410 Emerson Street Post office Box 491615 Leesburg, Florida 34749-1615 (352) 365-1400 Florida Bar Number 220299

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This case is a matter of original jurisdiction before the Supreme Court of Florida pursuant to Article V, Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

Final hearing in these proceedings was held on November 29, 1995, and November 30, 1995. The referee's report was duly filed in this Court.

The facts in this case are relatively uncontested. The Florida Bar initiated these disciplinary proceedings upon the initial complaint of Thomas Grizzard who was later joined by Douglas Dillard. The primary thrust of the complaints focused on Respondent's dealings and relationship with The Arbors of Lake Harris, Inc.

In July, 1991, Respondent and his wife, Martina Norvell, entered into a contract with The Arbors for the construction of their home. RR 1. The home was to be the first constructed in a housing development known as The Arbors of Lake Harris. TFB Comp. 1. Forrest Berg and Douglas Dillard were the principals of the Arbors and Jamie Senatore was hired as the architect. RR 1. At the time Respondent entered into the contract with The Arbors, he was not a member of The Florida Bar. RR2. He was reinstated as a member of the Bar on May 26, 1992. RR 2.

In late 1991, a dispute arose between Respondent and Messrs. Berg and Dillard after Mr. Senatore informed Respondent of improper payments to subcontractors that The Arbors had hired to work on Respondent's home. RR 2.

On or about December 3, 1991, Respondent met with lawyer Bob Williams to discuss an action against The Arbors and Messrs. Berg and Dillard. RR 2. Respondent retained Mr. Williams for \$2,500.00 to represent him in the dispute; Messrs. Berg and Dillard retained lawyer Edward Clement. RR 2. Respondent sought to cancel the construction contract with The Arbors and to hire Mr. Senatore as the general contractor to finish his home. RR 2. On or about January 6, 1992, Respondent settled his dispute with The Arbors and successfully rescinded the construction contract. RR 2, Ex. 1. Respondent then hired Mr. Senatore to complete the construction of his home. RR 2.

At some point in early 1992 a dispute arose between Respondent and Mr. Senatore concerning the timely completion of Respondent's home. RR 2.

On or about March 30, 1992, Mr. Williams brought suit on behalf of Mr. Senatore against The Arbors and Messrs. Berg and Dillard concerning their refusal to sell shares in The Arbors back to Mr. Senatore under a share repurchase agreement previously executed by the parties. RR 2. The defendants in that suit retained lawyer Royce Pipkins to represent them. RR 2. The \$1,000.00 payment to Robert Q. Williams, Esquire by the respondent's wife, Tina Norvell, was made on May 11, 1992 as payments on the Senatore/Norvell house contract were winding up. The payment was made, per Senatore's instructions, from an account the respondent opened strictly for the purpose of the House Construction Contract.

Tina Norvell testified that the same had been done for other bills owed by Senatore. RR 2, TR 339, 340. The \$1,000.00 payment was paid prior to the Respondent being reinstated to The Florida Bar on May 26, 1992. The Respondent and his wife received a \$1,000.00 credit toward the balance owed Senatore on the construction contract for the payment to Mr. Williams.

In the summer of 1992, Mr. Berg approached Respondent and asked the Respondent if he would assist The Arbors in some way to increase lot sales. RR 2. Respondent agreed to assist Mr. Berg in talking to Mr. Senatore about the lawsuit Mr. Senatore had filed against Messrs. Berg and Dillard and The Arbors. RR 3. Subsequently, Respondent discussed with Mr. Senatore the adverse affect that Mr. Senatore's lawsuit was having on lot sales in the subdivision. RR 3.

In or about July, 1992, a principal payment of \$100,000.00 was due to Citizens National Bank (CNB), the primary lender for The Arbors. RR 3. The Arbors was not able to make this payment nor were Messrs. Berg and Dillard, who were individually liable for payment. RR 3. Consequently, the loan defaulted. RR 3. Messrs. Berg and Dillard had anticipated making the payment out of lot sale proceeds, but the pending lot closings did not occur due to the pending Senatore lawsuit. RR 3, TR 178. Mr. Berg contacted one of the CNB directors, Thomas Grizzard, a licensed realtor in Leesburg, Florida, to formulate a marketing plan that would boost lot sales and result in payment of the debt to CNB. RR 3.

The Arbors gave Mr. Grizzard a one year exclusive listing agreement for The Arbors on September 1, 1992. RR 3. Mr. Grizzard's marketing plan included a reduction in unit prices. RR 3. During the year that Mr. Grizzard had an exclusive listing agreement, Respondent was involved in procuring contracts for the sale of lots in The Arbors. RR 3.

In September, 1992, CNB filed a foreclosure action against The Arbors and its principals, Messrs. Berg and Dillard, individually. RR 3. As a result of the foreclosure, The Arbors' lawyer, Royce Pipkins, filed a Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Middle District of Florida on or about December 1, 1992. RR 3. The Honorable C. Timothy Corcoran, III presided over the bankruptcy case. RR 3. Little action took place in the bankruptcy from the initial filing through June 1993, at which time Respondent and Mr. Pipkins filed a joint motion for substitution of counsel substituting Respondent as The Arbors' counsel of record. Ex. 21. In his June 15, 1993 order, Judge Corcoran granted the motion. Ex. 15.

On August 17, 1993, Judge Corcoran determined that Respondent had not filed an application for employment nor had The Arbors filed the required affidavit for employment of Respondent as counsel. Upon an order by Judge Corcoran, Respondent and The Arbors filed these documents that same day. Ex. 16, 17. In those documents, Mr. Berg and Respondent represented that Respondent had no ownership interest in The Arbors. Ex. 16, 17.

Those assertions were correct as a final agreement regarding Respondent's ownership interest was not reached until October 1993. Ex. 27, 28.

On or about September 15, 1993, Respondent appeared before Judge Corcoran on the "problem calendar." RR 4,5. At that time, Judge Corcoran entered an order denying Respondent's application for employment. Ex. 18. Respondent testified that upon learning of Judge Corcoran's order, he ceased pursuing the appointment and retained an experienced bankruptcy attorney for the Arbors, Richard Tr. 388. In mid-September, 1993, Respondent forwarded Hennings. \$5,000.00 from his personal funds to lawyer Richard Hennings as an initial retainer for his assumption of the Chapter 11 proceedings. The Arbors officers regarding his Mr. Hennings met with On or about October 1, 1993, representation of The Arbors. Respondent and Messrs. Berg and Dillard executed an assignment and assumption agreement, giving Respondent a 100% ownership interest in The Arbors provided all debts were paid first. RR 5, Ex.13. The effective date of the agreement was September 27, 1993. Ex. 13.

On October 4, 1993, Respondent and Mr. Hennings filed a joint motion for substitution of counsel in The Arbors' Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings. Ex. 19. That motion revealed to the Court Respondent's prospective ownership interest in The Arbors. Ex. 19.

Disciplinary proceedings were initiated against Respondent and a hearing before a referee was held on November 29, 1995 and

November 30, 1995. The referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating several rules of the Rules of Professional Conduct in connection with his conduct in The Arbors' bankruptcy action. RR 5, 6. The referee recommended that the Respondent be suspended for a period of 90 days. RR 6. In making his recommendation, the referee considered both aggravating factors, including multiple offenses involved in the same transaction and Respondent's prior conviction of marijuana charges, RR 6, and mitigating factors, including full and free disclosure to the disciplinary board, remorse, absence of harm to Respondent's clients and remoteness of prior offenses. RR 7.

### SUMMARY OF RESPONSE TO BAR'S ARGUMENT

The Bar requests this court to find that, contrary to the Referee's findings, Respondent also violated Rules 4-1.4(b) and 4.1-7(b) by failing to provide his clients with necessary information and by representing conflicting interests. Additionally, the Bar requests a more severe punishment than the Referee's 90 day suspension. In support of the enhanced punishment, the Bar cites the Respondent's prior disciplinary history related to an incident on April 15, 1982. As a result of that incident, a conviction for conspiracy to possess and distribute marijuana, Respondent resigned from the Bar and was subsequently reinstated in May of 1992, some ten years after the offense giving rise to the resignation.

The recommendation of the Referee is characterized by the Bar as "erroneous and unjustified" notwithstanding two days of testimony and the submission of additional briefs by counsel on issues undetermined at the conclusion of two days of hearings before the Referee. The Bar states that the Respondent paid "legal fees" to Mr. Senatore's(Respondent's house contractor) lawyer, but the "legal fees" paid were, in fact, one thousand dollars of the total construction contract for Respondent's house that Mr. Senatore requested be paid directly to Mr. Williams rather than to him. This supposed "legal fee" was paid by

Respondent's wife from a separate construction fund account that all construction costs of the house were funded from. Mr. Berg, one of Respondent's clients and an officer of the Arbors, was fully aware of the hiring of Mr. Senatore to finish the Respondent's house and knew he was being paid for finishing the house by the Respondent. Whether Respondent paid the money to Senatore and Senatore then went to Williams office and tendered Williams the same money, or Respondent(acting on Senatore's order) sent the money directly to Williams for Senatore's account as Respondent did with many creditors of Senatore during the construction, is a distinction without a difference. The same funds would have ended up in Williams account as construction of Respondent's house was Senatore's source of funds during the period of time in question. This supposed "legal fee" was paid to Williams prior to Respondent's reinstatement to the Bar.

The Assignment and Assumption Agreement was executed by Respondent subsequent to the decision of Respondent to withdraw from the Bankruptcy representation. Further, the Agreement provided that **prior to any actual transfer of ownership**, the mortgage at Citizens National Bank being foreclosed would have to be satisfied and both Dillard and Berg released from any personal liability.

To accept the Bar's tortured reasoning that Respondent should have informed his clients that after he retained Hennings to represent the Arbors in the Bankruptcy and withdrew from the case, that he could not represent the Arbors any further in the Bankruptcy would be to state the obvious as the clients had met with Hennings and agreed to his representation of them in the Bankruptcy case. The client knew Respondent had paid Hennings a \$5,000 retainer to represent them as the clients met with Hennings prior to Hennings filing his first document. At the time of execution of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the clients knew Respondent was not representing them in the Bankruptcy any longer as Hennings was on board.

As the initial Bankruptcy petition was filed by attorney Pipkins on the 1st of December, 1992 and the Respondent's application to represent the Arbors(Debtor) was denied on August 17, 1993 and Hennings Bankruptcy application was filed on September 4, 1993, the Bar's argument that Respondent "failed to inform" his clients about a further delay by hiring Hennings rings hollow. The clients **knew** Respondent was hiring Hennings and any "delay" was known to the clients and amounted to only two weeks after a nine month delay after the initial filing by attorney Pipkins.

Respondent should not be subjected to a suspension in excess of that recommended by the Referee.

#### POINT I

THE REFEREE'S CONCLUSION THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULES 4-1.4(b) AND 4-1.7(b) WAS NOT ERRONEOUS.

As stated in the Bar's Point I Argument, a referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and will not be revisited by this court unless it can be shown they are clearly erroneous or without support in the record. There is no proof in the record that the Referee's facts are erroneous or without support.

The Respondent did not violate rule 4-1.4(b) during the summer of 1992 because the May 11, 1992, \$1,000.00 payment to Robert Q. Williams, Esquire by the respondent's wife, Tina Norvell, was made because payments on the Senatore/Norvell house contract were The payment was made, per Senatore's instructions, winding up. from an account the respondent opened strictly for the purpose of the House Construction Contract. Tina Norvell testified that the same had been done for other bills owed by Senatore. RR 2, TR 339. Further, the \$1,000.00 payment was paid prior to the 340. Respondent being reinstated to The Florida Bar on May 26, 1992. The Respondent and his wife received a \$1,000.00 credit toward the balance owed Senatore on the construction contract for the payment Respondent did not inform Mr. Berg of the to Mr. Williams. \$1,000.00 payment to Mr. Williams because he was not funding the Senatore lawsuit.

The Respondent was never obligated to fund the Senatore lawsuit but he was obligated to pay Mr. Senatore for constructing his home. See Mr. Keeter's remarks in that regard. TR 516.

The Respondent did not fail to disclose to Mr. Berg and Mr. Dillard the conflict of interest between his duties under the Assignment and Assumption Agreement and his bankruptcy representation of The Arbors because at the time the bankruptcy petition was filed, Respondent had not commenced negotiations to purchase the Arbors. It was three more days before Respondent first broached the subject of purchasing the Arbors in his letter dated August 20, 1993 (Bar ex. 12). A review of that letter indicates the purchase of the Arbors was almost an afterthought. It was primarily a discussion about the progress of the case and compensation for services. In fact, the transaction was not finalized until after October 1, 1993. The Bankruptcy Court advised the Respondent that his petition to represent The Arbors was denied without prejudice on September 15, 1993. Both Mr. Berg and Mr. Dillard were happy with the transaction that they entered into and both had the advice of experienced counsel before signing any paperwork. In fact, Attorney Gene Mark drafted the agreement and had independent communications with his clients outside of Respondent's presence. Respondent had fair dealings with his clients in this business transaction.

Mr. Berg and Mr. Dillard were aware that the Respondent was receiving title insurance policy fees for issuing title insurance on the lots. The premium charged was the standard "card" rate for Lake County. Additionally, this issue was cleared with Attorney Richard Hennings prior to issuance of the policies.

The Respondent inquired about changing the subdivision restrictions on the minimum square footage to require larger homes in the subdivision <u>conditioned on CNB's approval</u>. Citizens did not approve the request and the Respondent did not pursue the matter further. To merely ask a questions is not unethical or a violation of the rules.

Page 17 of The Bar's brief states the Respondent later sued Mr. Senatore in a dispute concerning the construction of the Respondent's home. The Respondent is not aware of any lawsuit filed by him against Mr. Senatore concerning the construction of his home.

### POINT II

# THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF NINETY DAY SUSPENSION WAS JUSTIFIED GIVEN THE FACTS OF THE CASE AND THE RESPONDENT'S PRIOR DISCIPLINARY HISTORY

The referee found the Respondent guilty of making misrepresentations to the Bankruptcy court. The referee recommended a 90 day suspension and passage of the ethics portion of the Bar Exam. Additionally, the Respondent was to pay the Bar's costs in the case which were \$4,209.30.

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